IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2008-CA-01659

THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI,

Appellant,

V.

BAYER CORPORATION BAYER PHARMACEUTICALS CORPORATION AND BAYER HEALTHCARE CORPORATION,

Appellees.

BRIEF FOR APPELLANT

ON APPEAL FROM THE HINDS CHANCERY COURT, FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT

Of Counsel:

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

Whether the chancery court erred in granting Bayer's Rule 12(b)(6) motion and dismissing the State's claims against Bayer, based on the finding that a prior settlement agreement barred the State from pursuing damages on drugs that were not subject to the settlement release.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Course of Proceedings Below.

On October 20, 2005, the State of Mississippi ("State") filed its Original Complaint against Bayer Corporation, Bayer Pharmaceuticals Corporation, and Bayer Healthcare, LLC (collectively "Bayer"), as well as other defendants, in the chancery court of Hinds County. The State's lawsuit is based on Defendants' fraudulently misrepresenting the Average Wholesale Prices ("AWPs") of their drugs with full knowledge that the State used the AWPs as a basis for reimbursing Medicaid providers for providing prescription drugs to Medicaid beneficiaries.

After Bayer moved to dismiss the Complaint as regarded itself (see R.E. 4), the special masters appointed in the case granted that motion with prejudice as regarded six specific drugs (the "Qui Tam Drugs") which were the subject of a 2001 Settlement Agreement (R.E. 9) reached by Bayer and 47 states, including the State of Mississippi, but left open the prospect of a new action regarding other drugs. R.E. 5 at 1800.¹

The State filed its First Amended Complaint (R.E. 7), expressly naming particular drugs not specified in the 2001 Settlement Agreement (the "Non-Qui Tam Drugs"). Bayer again moved to dismiss the State's claims, again invoking the same Settlement Agreement and arguing that it covered the Non-Qui Tam Drugs. R.E. 8. The special masters found the Agreement did cover the Non-Qui Tam Drugs, R.E. 3 at 1556, and the chancery court entered an Order on

¹ The Record Excerpts are cited by tab number and the trial court's Bates number.

September 2, 2008 adopting their recommendation to grant Bayer's motion. R.E. 2.

Further, on September 16, 2008 the chancery court entered an order which provided all defendants, except Bayer, unique case numbers and transferred all of them, again except Bayer, to Rankin County. (See Appendix A to this brief.) The order of severance and transfer makes no mention of Bayer, for the reason that Bayer had been dismissed by the chancery court on September 2. Bayer had expressly opted out of the other Defendants' motion for severance. R.E. 12. Therefore, the severance left Bayer as the sole Defendant in the case, and the chancery court's order dismissing Bayer was a final order and thus appealable under M.R.C.P. 54.

The State timely appealed on September 30, 2008. R.E. 13.

II. Relevant Facts.

The First Amended Complaint against Bayer alleges violations of the Medicaid Fraud Control Act, Miss. Code Ann. § 43-13-207; unfair or deceptive trade practices in or affecting commerce, in violation of Miss. Code Ann. § 75-24-5; and common law fraud. R.E. 7 at 1082-85. The lawsuit contends that Bayer, and many other pharmaceutical companies, reaped hundreds of millions of dollars in unjust profits by building market share in select drugs using an inflated AWP. Evidence will show that the official AWPs listed have little relation to the actual prices that drug companies charge private doctors, hospitals and medical providers for Mississippi Medicaid patients.

When Bayer moved to dismiss the original Complaint, claiming the 2001 Settlement Agreement not only covered the Qui Tam Drugs specified in the Agreement, but all Bayer drugs, the court-appointed special masters entered Report & Recommendation ("R&R") No. 2, which provided in relevant part that:

In any event, absent any specific allegation of wrongdoing as to Non-Qui Tam Drugs, we find no basis for the State's claims relating to the pre-settlement period to proceed at this point. See Harold's Auto Parts, Inc. v. Mangialardi, 889 So. 2d 493, 495 (Miss. 2004). If at a later date the State has evidence the comprehensive investigation previously made against Bayer that resulted in the settlement should have included other drugs for the time prior to 2001, the State may bring a new action at that time.

R.E. 5 at 1797 (emphasis added).

On September 5, 2006, the special masters entered R&R No. 16, which provided in relevant part that the State

shall file its amended complaint to comply with Rules 8, 9, and 11, and, at a minimum, shall plead as to each Defendant the specific

drug(s) in issue, and if ascertainable, the allegedly fraudulent AWP(s) for each such drug, and the basis for alleging each such AWP was fraudulent.

R.E. 6 at 1806.

'On October 5, 2006 the State filed its First Amended Complaint fully complying with the pleading standards set forth in M.R.C.P. 9(b), as well as the special masters' R&R Nos. 2 and 16. R.E. 7. Specifically, with regards to Bayer, the State went back and combed through its research of the Non-Qui Tam Drugs and reasserted claims against specific Bayer products with fraudulent AWPs.

In particular, the Amended Complaint explicitly sets forth the National Drug Code ("NDC") of thirty-one drugs for which Bayer reported inflated AWPs. R.E. 7 at 1103-04. Furthermore, the Amended Complaint states that the true AWP at which Bayer sold its drugs in the marketplace was at least seventeen (17) percent lower than the reported AWP which the State of Mississippi's Division of Medicaid used to reimburse providers. R.E. 7 at 1057-58. The Amended Complaint also provides the "basis for alleging each such AWP was fraudulent," in its assertion that Bayer

caused false Average Wholesale Prices for each of the listed pharmaceuticals to enter the stream of commerce knowing that they would be used by Mississippi as the principal means of estimating the acquisition cost of pharmaceuticals dispensed to beneficiaries of the Medicaid program, causing Mississippi to overpay [Bayer's] customers in violation of state law as alleged below.

R.E. 7 at 1057-58.

On February 21, 2008, Aventis Pharmaceuticals Inc., "on behalf of all Defendants in this case," filed a Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings arguing.

among other things, that the State's Amended Complaint failed to plead fraud with particularity. R.E. 10 at 1437, 1439.

On March 19, 2008 the special masters entered R&R No. 33 in response to Defendants' Joint Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings, and found in pertinent part as follows:

In Report and Recommendation No. 16... we pointed out that the original Complaint had identified the time during which the alleged fraud had occurred (1991 through the present), the place (throughout the State where providers were reimbursed by Medicaid based upon alleged false filing), the contents of the false misrepresentations (allegedly inflated AWPs,) the person engaged in the fraud (the defendants), and what was obtained as a result (marketing of the spread resulting in allegedly greater sales). What the State did not do in its original Complaint was identify as to each defendant the specific drug to which each defendant was alleged to have submitted a false AWP. In addition, the State's original Complaint failed to set forth the allegedly fraudulent AWP for each drug and the basis for alleging that each such AWP was fraudulent.

... It is clear, however, in our view, that the Defendants have been given adequate specific notice of the fraud alleged against them in the Amended Complaint. They now have been told the specific drug for which the Attorney General contends they submitted a false AWP, the time period during which the State alleges this occurred, the place where it occurred, the methodology of it occurring, and what was obtained as a result. Accordingly, we do not believe that additional specificity is required.

R.E. 11 at 2248 (emphasis added). Conspicuously, the special masters concluded by noting additional specificity was not required. The specificity of the allegations pled in the State's Amended Complaint is equal in degree against Bayer and the other Defendants. R.E. 7 at 1057-59.

Drugs, "it is logical to assume that those concerns would have been addressed" in the Settlement. Id.

The specific provision regarding the release of claims states that Bayer is release[d] from liability for the "Covered Conduct." R.E. 9 at 1572-74. According to the Preamble of the Agreement, "Covered Conduct" is defined as

conduct during the period January 1993 through August 1999 involving the marketing and sale of Koate-HP Antihemophilic Factor (Human), Kogenate Antihemophilic Factor (Recombinant), Konyne-80 Factor IX Complex (Human), Gamimune N, 5% Immune Globulin Intravenous (Human, 5%), Gamimune N, 10% Immune Globulin Intravenous (Human, 10%), and Thrombate III Antithrombin III (Human)(collectively referred to hereafter as the Qui Tam Drugs).

R.E. 9 at 1572-74.

The Agreement reserved the right for the State to bring an action against Bayer for Non-Qui Tam Drugs, as follows:

Notwithstanding any other terms of this Agreement, specifically reserved and excluded from the scope and terms of this Agreement as to any entity or person (including BAYER) are any and all of the following: . . . Any civil or administrative liability that BAYER has or may have under any state statute, regulation or rule not released in Paragraph III(2) above.

R.E. 9 at 1579.

The Agreement also mandates Bayer's cooperation with the State's investigations. Specifically, the Agreement states:

Bayer covenants to cooperate fully and truthfully with the STATE in any ongoing investigation or investigation commenced within five years of the Effective Date of this Agreement of individuals and entities not specifically released by this Agreement . . . relating to the Covered Conduct.

R.E. 9 at 1584.

The Release's Preamble contains very specific language regarding the "Qui Tam Drugs," as they are the subject of the Covered Conduct. The Dismissal provision references only claims relating to "Covered Conduct." R.E. 9 at 1579. It does not provide for the dismissal of any Bayer drugs other than those six drugs cited in the definition of "Covered Conduct." R.E. 9 at 1572.

Bayer had previously paid \$48,608.09 to the State in consideration for releasing Bayer from liability for the "Covered Conduct." R.E. 9 at 1576-77. During the time period at issue in the case, the State reimbursed approximately \$37.7 million for Bayer drugs, *not including* the six Qui Tam Drugs. R.E. 14 at 1561.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The special masters and the chancery court wrongly imposed a heightened pleading standard on the State by forcing the State to bring forth evidence to show why the Non-Qui Tam Drugs had not previously been identified in the Department of Justice's investigation. Bayer argued, and the chancery court agreed, that the instant action is barred by the prior Settlement Agreement based on the assumption that drugs other than those specifically cited in the Settlement Agreement were released. However, on a motion to dismiss, the trial court's lone concern should be the sufficiency of the complaint; therefore, Bayer's defenses are not a factor in that evaluation. The State did not have to anticipate Bayer's affirmative defenses in order to survive a motion to dismiss.

Alternatively, in considering matters outside the pleadings, the chancery court should have converted Bayer's motion to dismiss to a motion for summary judgment. Such a conversion requires proper notice, which was never provided. The failure of proper notice requires rejection of the chancery court's order of dismissal.

Finally, the chancery court committed reversible error in assuming that the Department of Justice's investigation and False Claims Act case included Non-Qui Tam Drugs. The chancery court went beyond the text of the Settlement Agreement to assign meaning and intent, in contravention of Mississippi law. Bayer has used the Agreement for purposes of amnesty in many other AWP cases. However, courts across the country have repeatedly refused to adopt Bayer's position that the Agreement encompasses drugs other than those which it

specifically names. Reading the Agreement within its four corners, as the trial court was legally obliged to do, this Court will see that the Agreement is concerned with the "Covered Conduct," which cannot be read to the inclusion of the Non-Qui Tam Drugs. Additionally, the State's claims squarely fall into the Reservation Provision of the Settlement Agreement because the drugs at issue are not considered part of the conduct released by the Agreement.

For these reasons, the chancery court erred in granting the Motion to Dismiss, and this Court should reverse that decision and allow the State to present its case on the merits.

ARGUMENT

Motions to dismiss are reviewed de novo by this Court. Ralph Walker, Inc. v. Gallagher, 926 So. 2d 890, 893 (Miss. 2006).

Under a *de novo* standard of review, we will affirm only if the moving party can show beyond doubt that the plaintiff failed "to state a claim upon which relief can be granted." Miss. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6). In order for us to affirm a grant, or reverse a denial, of a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss, it must be such that no set of facts would entitle the opposing party to relief.

Id. The facts are to be construed in the favor of the non-movant. Richardson v. Sara Lee Corp., 847 So. 2d 821, 823 (Miss. 2003). Motions to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6) are "not favored." Tucker v. Hinds County, 558 So. 2d 869, 872 (Miss. 1990). "When considering a 12(b)(6) motion, the court's inquiry essentially is limited to the content of the complaint." Id.

- I. The Trial Court Erred in Holding the State to a Heightened Pleading Standard Based on a Previous Settlement Agreement Which Should Not Have Been Considered at the Motion to Dismiss Stage.
- A. The State's Amended Complaint sets forth facts which would entitle the State to relief against Bayer.

The special masters set forth the general pleading requirements for this case in R&R No. 16, which provided, in pertinent part, that the State

shall file its amended complaint to comply with Rules 8, 9, and 11, and, at a minimum, shall plead as to each Defendant the specific drug(s) in issue, and if ascertainable, the allegedly fraudulent AWP(s) for each such drug, and the basis for alleging each such AWP was fraudulent.

R.E. 6 at 1806. The State amended its Complaint in compliance with the pleading standards set forth in M.R.C.P. 9(b), as well as with the special masters' R&R Nos. 2 and 16. The Amended Complaint explicitly sets forth each "specific drug

in issue." R.E. 7 at 1103-04. Furthermore, the Amended Complaint specifically states that the true AWP at which Bayer sold its drugs in the marketplace was seventeen (17) percent lower than the price at which it was reimbursed by the State of Mississippi's Division of Medicaid. R.E. 7 at 1057-58. The Amended Complaint also provides the "basis for alleging each such AWP was fraudulent," in its assertion that Bayer

caused false Average Wholesale Prices for each of the listed pharmaceuticals to enter the stream of commerce knowing that they would be used by Mississippi as the principal means of estimating the acquisition cost of pharmaceuticals dispensed to beneficiaries of the Medicaid program, causing Mississippi to overpay [Bayer's] customers in violation of state law as alleged below.

R.E. 7 at 1058.

All Defendants, including Bayer, filed a joint motion to dismiss the State's Amended Complaint based on inadequate pleading under M.R.C.P. 9(b). However, the State has met the "notice pleading" requirement of Mississippi. M.R.C.P. 8; see also Bedford Health Props., LLC v. Estate of Williams, 946 So. 2d 335, 350 (Miss. 2006). Under M.R.C.P. 8, "no magic words are required. . . . [I]t is only necessary that the pleadings provide sufficient notice to the defendant of the claims and grounds upon which relief is sought." Estate of Stevens v. Wetzel, 762 So. 2d 293, 295 (Miss. 2000).

In contradiction to Bayer's position that the State's Amended Complaint lacked specificity, the chancery court issued an Order adopting special masters' R&R 33 which found the State's Amended Complaint contained the requisite specificity under M.R.C.P. 9(b). The special masters expressly noted, "in our

view, the Defendants have been given adequate specific notice of the fraud alleged against them in the Amended Complaint." R.E. 11 at 2248. The special masters concluded by stating "we do not believe that additional specificity is required." *Id.* The degree of specificity in the allegations against Bayer is equivalent to those against the other defendants in the State's Amended Complaint. Rule 9(b) requires the State plead the "circumstances of the alleged fraud such as the time, place and contents of any false representations or conduct." *Howard v. Estate of Harper*, 947 So. 2d 854, 861 (Miss. 2006) (citation omitted). Rule 9(b)'s deliberate use of "such as" is a clear indication that "time, place, and contents" are examples of "circumstances" and not requirements. *See, e.g., Bosarge v. State*, 786 So. 2d 426, 437 (Miss. Ct. App. 2001) (list of factors showing reliability of evidence "such as" A, B, C, etc., "by no means exclusive").

Despite finding the State met the pleading requirements of M.R.C.P. 9(b) in R&R 33 with respect to all Defendants, the special masters and chancery court created a heightened pleading standard as regards Bayer. Such a rigorous pleading requirement contravenes Mississippi law. On this basis alone, the Court has sufficient grounds to reverse the decision of the chancery court.

B. The Chancery Court should not have considered the Settlement Agreement in ruling on Bayer's Motion to Dismiss.

Despite its affirmation that the State's Amended Complaint complied with Mississippi's pleading requirements, the chancery court (in adopting R&R 35) went beyond its limited purview at the motion to dismiss stage and considered the applicability of a Settlement Agreement in deciding Bayer's Motion to Dismiss.

Assuming arguendo that the 2001 Settlement Agreement does encompass Non-Qui Tam Drugs, which it does not, it remains Mississippi law that "when a court is considering a motion to dismiss, the allegations in the complaint must be taken as true." Lang vs. Bay St. Louis/Waveland Sch. Dist., 764 So. 2d 1234, 1236 (Miss. 1999) (citing T.M. v. Noblitt, 650 So. 2d 1340, 1342 (Miss. 1995)). The motion "should not be granted unless it appears beyond a reasonable doubt that the Plaintiff can prove no set of facts in support of his claim which entitled him to relief." Butler v. Bd. of Supervisors for Hinds County, 659 So. 2d 578, 581 (Miss. 1995).

The allegations in the State's Amended Complaint should have been the only focus of the chancery court when it ruled on Bayer's Motion to Dismiss. In light of the findings by the special masters in R&R 33 (adopted by the chancery court) that the State's Amended Complaint stated claims for which relief may be granted, the court's analysis should have ended there. Unlike a Rule 56 motion for summary judgment, a Rule 12(b)(6) motion is decided on the face of the complaint alone. Hartford Cas. Ins. Co. v. Halliburton Co., 826 So. 2d 1206, 1210 (Miss. 2001) (citations omitted). The chancery court clearly failed to decide Bayer's motion properly, and exceeded the scope of its review by considering extrinsic evidence that is not central to the State's claims. In doing so, the chancery court prematurely and improperly delved into the merits of the State's claims.

The preclusive effect of the Settlement Agreement is of no consequence to the adequacy of the State's allegations. The preclusion arguments raised by Bayer, albeit impliedly, are grounded in the affirmative defenses of accord and satisfaction, compromise and settlement, and/or res judicata. M.R.C.P. 8(c). A motion to dismiss is solely concerned with the sufficiency of the complaint, and Bayer's defenses are not a factor in that evaluation. Stanton & Associates, Inc. v. Bryant Const. Co., Inc., 464 So. 2d 499, 505 (Miss. 1985) (finding the sufficiency of the complaint is in "substantial part determined by Rule 8(a) and (e)).

A complaint does not have to anticipate affirmative defenses to survive a motion to dismiss. See Gomez v. Toledo, 446 U.S. 635, 640 (1980); cf. Bourn v. Tomlinson Interests, Inc., 456 So. 2d 747, 749 (Miss. 1984) (Miss. courts look to federal courts' interpretation of parallel rules of civil procedure). This of course is obvious from the rule that Rule 12(b)(6) motions are decided on the face of the complaint, not of the complaint and the answer (which is where affirmative defenses are pleaded). Rule 12 affords Bayer the opportunity to raise an affirmative defense "in any pleading permitted or so ordered under Rule 7(a), or by motion for judgment on the pleadings, or at the trial on the merits." M.R.C.P. 12(h)(2). Rule 12(b)(6) is not mentioned. Therefore, the State's claims must survive judicial scrutiny for purposes of a Rule 12(b)(6) attack.

It was therefore error for the chancery court to dismiss the State's complaint as to Bayer for, in essence, failing to anticipate affirmative defenses. This Court should reverse and remand.

C. Alternatively when Bayer offered the Settlement Agreement with its Motion to Dismiss, the Chancery Court should have converted it to a Motion for Summary Judgment.

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