2008-CA-01659 SCTE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

Pursuant to Mississippi Rule of Appellate Procedure 28(a)(1), the undersigned counsel of record certifies that Bayer Corporation, Bayer Pharmaceuticals Corporation, and Bayer Healthcare, LLC[†] (collectively, "Bayer" or "Bayer Defendants") have an interest in the outcome of this case. In its appeal, the State of Mississippi challenges the Chancery Court's dismissal with prejudice of all of the State's claims against each of the Bayer Defendants. These representations are made in order that the justices of the Supreme Court may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

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

any civil or administrative monetary claim, action, suit or proceeding the State has or may have relating to claims submitted to the State Medicaid Program for the Covered Conduct.

See Settlement Agreement, Part III(2 & 3) (emphasis added). (B.R.E. 1 at 00490–91.) Further, the release "fully discharge[d] Bayer from any obligation to pay restitution, damages, and/or any fine or penalty to the State for the Covered Conduct." *Id.* In addition to Bayer Corporation, the Settlement Agreement releases "Bayer, its parent corporation(s), subsidiaries and affiliates." *Id.*, Part III(3). (B.R.E. 1 at 000491.) 4

ASP Reporting. The 2001 Settlement Agreement required Bayer to comply with detailed price reporting obligations. Specifically, Bayer agreed to report the "average sales price" ("ASP") for every drug that it sells in the United States to Mississippi for a period of five years. Id., Part III(8). (B.R.E. 1 at 000493–97.) The ASP reporting requirement applied not only to the six Qui Tam Drugs, but to all Bayer products. The stated purpose of the ASP reporting requirement was to provide the State "with true pricing information that accurately reflects the prices at which actual purchasers buy the drug and biological products sold by Bayer." Id. (emphasis added).

In accordance with the terms of the Settlement Agreement, Bayer faithfully reported ASPs to the State on a quarterly basis for a period of five years beginning with a report covering the second quarter of 2001. Id., Part III(8)(a). (B.R.E. 1 at 000493–94.) Each ASP report contained a statement of the methodology used in calculating the ASPs. As required, Bayer kept and made available to the State all of the workpapers that supported its ASP calculations. Id., Part III(8)(g). (B.R.E. 1 at 000497.) The State never questioned the accuracy

⁴ The Agreement thus covers Defendants Bayer Pharmaceuticals and Bayer Healthcare to the same extent as Bayer Corporation. See FAC ¶ 23 (identifying Bayer Pharmaceuticals and Bayer Healthcare as affiliates of Bayer Corp). (S.R.E. 7 at 001057.)

⁵ Bayer continues voluntarily to provide quarterly ASP reports to the State.

of Bayer's ASPs or asked to review Bayer's workpapers, and it makes no allegation in this case of any flaws or shortcomings in Bayer's ASP reports.

B. The Initial Complaint and Motion to Dismiss

On October 20, 2005, over four years after entering into the Settlement Agreement, the State filed a complaint alleging that over eighty pharmaceutical manufacturers (including Bayer) committed Medicaid fraud, common law fraud, mail fraud, and other violations of Mississippi law, by improperly inflating the AWPs of their products. The conduct at issue in the 2001 Settlement Agreement and the conduct for which the State sought to recover in its initial complaint were identical. *See* Compl. ¶ 172, 178, 181, 184, 187, 189, 193, 197. (B.R.E. 2 at 000051–56.) The complaint made no attempt to plead around the settlement. Indeed, the only allegations specific to Bayer in the original complaint comprise two paragraphs. The first described the terms of the Settlement Agreement, while the second acknowledged that the State had received its portion of the settlement amount but indicated that the State believed "it ha[d] not been compensated fully for its losses from the wrongful conduct" underlying the settlement. *Id.* ¶¶ 157, 163. (B.R.E. 2 at 000047, 000049.)

Bayer filed a motion to dismiss the State's initial complaint based on the 2001 Settlement Agreement and the State's failure to plead fraud with the particularity required by Rule 9(b) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure. (B.R.E. 1 at 000465.) On July 28, 2006, the Special Masters issued R&R 2. In R&R 2, the Special Masters recommended that the Court (1) dismiss with prejudice pre-settlement claims involving the six Bayer drugs released under the Settlement Agreement; (2) dismiss with prejudice claims regarding any Bayer drug for the post-settlement time period in light of Bayer's quarterly ASP reports to the State; and (3) dismiss without prejudice claims involving non-released drugs for the pre-settlement time period. (S.R.E. 5 at 001800.) As to the latter category of claims, the Special Masters concluded that

"absent any specific allegation of wrongdoing as to non-Qui Tam Drugs, we find no basis for the State's claims relating to the pre-settlement time period to proceed at this point." *Id.* (citing *Harold's Auto Parts, Inc. v. Mangialardi*, 889 So. 2d 493, 495 (Miss. 2004)). But the Special Masters left the door open to the State for a corrected pleading: "If at a later date the State has evidence the comprehensive investigation previously made against Bayer that resulted in the settlement should have included other drugs for the time prior to 2001, the State may bring a new action at that time." *Id.*

On October 10, 2006, the Chancery Court adopted R&R 2 in its entirety without objection by the State. (S.R.E. 3 at 001557; S.R.E. 8 at 001318 & Ex. C.)

C. The First Amended Complaint

Rather than object to R&R 2, the State filed its First Amended Complaint ("FAC") on October 5, 2006. With respect to Bayer, the only difference between the initial Complaint and the FAC was the addition of an exhibit identifying specific Bayer drugs allegedly at issue and the inclusion of two new paragraphs. The first new paragraph merely applied to Bayer the same set of allegations that the FAC made against every defendant:

Plaintiff's claims against Baxter [sic] pertain to the pharmaceuticals listed in the attached Exhibit A Baxter [sic] caused false Average Wholesale Prices for each of the listed pharmaceuticals to enter the stream of commerce knowing that they would be used by Mississippi as the principal means of estimating the acquisition cost of pharmaceuticals dispensed to beneficiaries of the Medicaid program, causing Mississippi to overpay Baxter's [sic] customers in violation of state law The difference between the Average Wholesale Price this defendant caused to enter or to be maintained in the stream of commerce and the true Average Wholesale Price in the marketplace at the time of each claim for reimbursement for each of its products listed in Exhibit A was at least 17%.

FAC ¶ 23 (S.R.E. 7 at 001058-59.) The second new paragraph represented the State's effort to come to grips with the 2001 Settlement Agreement, as required under R&R 2. There the State alleged as follows:

Plaintiff acknowledges that the Special Masters have recommended the dismissal without prejudice of Bayer. Nevertheless, these allegations, which are limited to pharmaceutical products other than the qui tam drugs referred to in the 2001 settlement agreement and release, are different from the allegations which formed the basis of that settlement agreement and release to the extent that this lawsuit attacks the industry practice of introducing a [sic] an Average Wholesale Price into the stream of commerce which is at least 17% above the average wholesale price of its drugs to the retail classes of trade, knowing that it would be relied upon by Mississippi in establishing Estimated Acquisition Cost. To the extent that the investigation which led to the 2001 settlement and release focused upon products and practices where spread and spread marketing techniques were more extreme or flagrant, and in view of the allegations of this complaint, that these pharmaceuticals bore an AWP which was inflated by a minimum of 17%, Plaintiff reasserts her claims against Bayer as permitted by the Report and Recommendation of the Special Masters. No. 2.

Id. Other than the attempt made in this paragraph, the FAC nowhere sets forth "any specific allegation of wrongdoing as to non-Qui Tam Drugs," as required under R&R 2. (S.R.E. 5 at 001800.) Neither did it allege any basis for concluding that the "comprehensive investigation previously made against Bayer that resulted in the settlement should have included other drugs for the time prior to 2001." Id.

As with the initial complaint, Bayer moved to dismiss the FAC based on the Settlement Agreement and Rule 9(b). Following briefing, the Special Masters heard argument on March 12, 2008.⁶

⁶ Following the filing of the FAC, the case was removed to federal court. Bayer's motion to dismiss the FAC was filed following remand.

pricing information" defeats any basis for the State to claim that it received false, fraudulent, or deceptive information from Bayer. In any event, the State waived any post-settlement claims when it failed to object to the Special Masters' recommendation in R&R 2 that these claims be dismissed with prejudice and again when it failed to raise any objection to the dismissal of post-settlement claims in its opening brief on appeal.

3. Pre-Settlement Claims for Non-Qui Tam Drugs. The State failed to plead the circumstances surrounding the State's fraud claims against Bayer concerning non-Qui Tam Drugs with the degree of particularity required by Rule 9(b). The FAC makes no real attempt to meet the Chancery Court's directive to explain why the "comprehensive investigation" that preceded the 2001 Settlement Agreement did not identify the claims the State now raises. Instead, the State impermissibly relies on the same one-size-fits-all allegations of an "industry practice" of AWP inflation that the FAC makes against every defendant. Such cookiecutter pleading demonstrates that the State made no serious attempt to investigate the facts underlying its claims and is instead engaged in a strike suit or fishing expedition for unknown wrongs — tactics that Rule 9(b) was specifically adopted to prevent.

Neither of the State's arguments for overturning the Chancery Court's decision has any merit. First, the State is incorrect in concluding that the Chancery Court applied a heightened pleading standard to Bayer because the Court upheld the sufficiency of the FAC's identical allegations as to other defendants. Rule 9(b), of its own force, requires a court to take into account the particular known circumstances of the defendant. Second, the State is wrong in faulting the Chancery Court for considering the Settlement Agreement on Bayer's motion to dismiss. Where, as here, a complaint repeatedly refers to a document and uses it to frame its claims, the document is properly considered on a motion to dismiss. In any event, even if the

A. The State's Receipt of Average Sale Prices For All Bayer Products Throughout the Post-Settlement Period Bars the State's Claims

The State fails to mention in its opening brief that the Special Masters recommended in R&R 2 that all post-settlement claims against Bayer in the State's initial complaint be dismissed with prejudice. The Special Masters explained that, by its own terms, the 2001 Settlement Agreement required Bayer to give the State quarterly ASP reports in order to provide the State with "true pricing information that accurately reflects the prices at which purchasers buy the drug and biological products sold by Bayer." See Settlement Agreement, Part III(8). (B.R.E. 1 at 00493.) Consequently, the Special Masters explained, "[a]bsent any allegation that Bayer has not complied with this requirement," all post-settlement claims should be "dismissed with prejudice." R&R 2 at 4–5. (S.R.E. 5 at 001800–01).

For its part, the State has never contended that it failed to receive Bayer's ASP reports or that the reports did not contain the bargained-for "true pricing information" as to Bayer's products. Indeed, under the terms of the 2001 Settlement Agreement, the State was allowed to inspect the "workpapers and supporting documentation" relating to average sales price calculations as a way to verify the truth of its ASP reports. *See* Settlement Agreement, Part III(8)(g). (B.R.E. 1 at 000497.) The State has not sought to do so. Instead, it filed the same cookie-cutter allegations against Bayer that it filed against other, non-settling defendants.

In these circumstances, the State simply cannot prove its post-settlement claims.

For example, to properly plead a claim for common law fraud, the State must allege:

(1) a representation, (2) its falsity, (3) its materiality, (4) the speaker's knowledge of its falsity or ignorance of its truth, (5) his intent that it should be acted upon by the person and in the manner reasonably contemplated, (6) the hearer's ignorance of its falsity, (7) reliance upon its truth, (8) a right to rely on the representation, and (9) an injury proximately caused by the reliance on the representation.

Taylor v. Southern Farm Bureau Cas. Co., 954 So. 2d 1045, 1049 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007) (citing Levens v. Campbell, 733 So. 2d 753, 761-62 (Miss. 1999)).

The FAC fails to properly plead any of these elements. While ASP and AWP may have been calculated differently, neither can be considered "false" given that the State knew that ASP "accurately reflects the prices at which actual purchasers buy the drug and biological products sold by Bayer." See Settlement Agreement, Part III(8). (B.R.E. 1 at 000493-97.) Thus, Bayer could not knowingly have made a false or misleading representation as to a material fact concerning its AWPs. Nor could the State reasonably rely on any alleged misrepresentation by Bayer regarding what AWPs were. As a matter of law, "where a plaintiff has an opportunity to investigate the statements upon which she allegedly relied, the plaintiff cannot be said to have reasonably relied on those statements," and cannot prevail on a claim for common law fraud. Taylor 954 So. 2d at 1050 (citing Martin v. Winfield, 455 So. 2d 762, 765-66 (Miss. 1984)). In this case, Bayer's ASP reporting provided the State with more than ample information and opportunity to investigate Bayer's AWPs. Thus, as to Bayer, the complaint does not properly allege a common law fraud claim.

For the same reasons, the State has failed properly to allege its statutory claims.

See FAC ¶¶ 49-51. (S.R.E. 7 at 001082-84.) To plead a violation of Mississippi's unfair or deceptive trade practices act, the State must allege that Bayer's AWPs were "deceptive" or "unfair." Miss. Code Ann. § 75-24-5(1). But the State cannot have been deceived by the allegedly false AWPs it received, nor can publication of those AWPs be considered unfair, given that the State had before it Bayer's ASP reports at the same time it received the allegedly false AWPs. Likewise, to prevail on its claims under the Mississippi Medicaid Fraud Control Act, the State must prove that Bayer caused the submission of claims that Bayer knew were "false,

fictitious or fraudulent," which the State contends Bayer did because it knew that its allegedly inflated AWPs caused the State to overpay for Bayer's products. See id. §§ 43-13-207, -211, -213; see also FAC ¶ 50. (S.R.E. 7 at 001082-83.) However, Bayer cannot be faulted for the State's decision to reimburse its Medicaid providers for Bayer drugs based on AWP when the State has at its disposal Bayer's ASPs, which "accurately reflect[] the prices at which purchasers buy the drug and biological products sold by Bayer." See Settlement Agreement, Part III(8). (B.R.E. 1 at 00493.)8

For these reasons, the State's post-settlement claims fail as a matter of law, and the Chancery Court correctly dismissed them with prejudice pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6). At the very least, by failing to address the significance of Bayer's ASP reporting in its FAC, the State has failed to plead the circumstances of its post-settlement fraud claims with the particularity required by Rule 9(b).

B. The State Has Voluntarily Abandoned or Waived Any Post-Settlement Claims

Even if the State's post-settlement claims were theoretically viable, the State has voluntarily abandoned or waived them as to *all* Bayer products. As noted above, the State has expressly abandoned any claims as to the Qui Tam Drugs without any limit as to time period. But the State omits from its opening brief the fact that the Special Masters recommended in R&R 2 that post-settlement claims as to *all Bayer products* be dismissed *with prejudice*. The State never objected to R&R 2. By failing to raise the issue of post-settlement claims below, the State has failed to preserve the issue for appeal. *See Germany v. Denbury Onshore, LLC*, 984 So. 2d 270, 275–76 (Miss. 2008); *Levens*, 733 So. 2d at 763.

⁸ The State was entirely free to use ASP or any other pricing metric it found appropriate. States are given wide discretion to reimburse pharmacies and providers in a manner the State finds appropriate, 42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(30)(A); 42 C.F.R. 447.331(b) (2006).

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